RECEIVED

Jan 08 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-26-0166
Appellate Case No. 2020-000710

Jeanne Beverly, individually and on behalf of others similarly situated,Respondent,

v.

Grand Strand Regional Medical Center, LLCPetitioner.

**PETITIONER GRAND STRAND REGIONAL
MEDICAL CENTER, LLC'S BRIEF**

James Lynn Werner; SC Bar No. 6029
William R. Thomas; SC Bar No. 16348
Katon E. Dawson Jr.; SC Bar No. 101167
PARKER POE ADAMS & BERNSTEIN LLP
1221 Main Street, Suite 1100
Post Office Box 1509 (29202)
Columbia, South Carolina 29201

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with the controlling law of South Carolina, and constituted error, in finding a non-signatory to a contract may pursue a claim to enforce that contract as a third-party beneficiary despite the plain and unambiguous statement of intent by the parties to the contract that the contract "is not intended to, and shall not be construed to make any person or entity a third-party beneficiary."
- II. Whether the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with the controlling law of South Carolina, and constituted error, in finding an insured under a health insurance policy is a direct and intended third-party beneficiary of the business (not insurance) contract between a hospital and the patient's insurance provider that addresses the business logistics of the arrangement for processing and paying claims covered by the insurer between the hospital and the insurer.
- III. Whether the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with the controlling law of South Carolina, and constituted error, by elevating various incidental and consequential benefits allowed to third-parties by the contract between a hospital and an insurance provider to the status of intended and direct benefits sufficient to provide non-signatory third-parties the right to sue to enforce the business contract between the hospital and insurance provider.
- IV. Whether the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with the controlling law of South Carolina, and constituted error, by permitting a plaintiff to pursue a claim for unjust enrichment/*quantum meruit* after having ruled that the plaintiff is a third-party beneficiary with the right to enforce the terms of an express contract related to the same alleged conduct and damages as the claim for unjust enrichment/*quantum meruit*.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is about whether a person who is admittedly not a party to a contract between two other entities may enjoy legal status as a third-party beneficiary of that contract, with the power to sue on the contract and to enforce such terms in the contract as she chooses, despite the parties to the contract having included a specific and express term in the contract disclaiming the existence of any third-party beneficiary.

On September 6, 2012, Jeanne Beverly (“Beverly”) was injured in an automobile accident. (R. 141). Beverly sought treatment for the injuries she suffered in that accident at Grand Strand Regional Medical Center, LLC (“Grand Strand”) in Horry County. (R. 141).

At the time of her injury, Beverly was party to a Blue Cross Blue Shield of South Carolina (“BCBS”) health insurance policy. (R. 141).

Separately, Grand Strand and BCBS are parties to a business contract (the “Institutional Agreement”) which covers the terms of the business relationship between Grand Strand and BCBS such as how Grand Strand will process and submit insurance claims to BCBS in connection with treatment provided to BCBS insureds. The Institutional Agreement also addresses how, and how much, Grand Strand will be paid by BCBS on those claims.

Beverly alleges that after delivering medical services to her, Grand Strand billed her directly, at standard (non-discounted) rates for those services, rather than submitting those bills first to BCBS. (R. 142). On January 6, 2016, Beverly filed a complaint against Grand Strand asserting claims for (1) breach of the Institutional Agreement between Grand Strand and BCBS—to which she allegedly was a third-party beneficiary, (2) breach of fiduciary duty, and (3) unjust enrichment. (R. 144-147).

In response to Beverly’s complaint, Grand Strand filed a motion to dismiss on March 3, 2016, arguing (1) Beverly lacks standing to sue on and enforce the Institutional

Agreement because she is not a third-party beneficiary with such rights, (2) Grand Strand does not owe Beverly a fiduciary duty to file insurance claims on her behalf, and (3) Grand Strand was not unjustly enriched by billing Beverly the standard rates for the medical services she received. (R. 149-150).

On May 25, 2016, the circuit court issued an order granting Grand Strand's Motion to Dismiss. (R. 124). In that order, the circuit court recognized and acknowledged that the Institutional Agreement contains an express provision stating that there are not, and are not intended to be, any third-party beneficiaries to the Institutional Agreement. (R. 127-130). Specifically, the circuit court relied on Section 16.16 of the Institutional Agreement to find Grand Strand and BCBS did not intend the Institutional Agreement to be enforceable by third-parties. Section 16.16 states the following:

No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is not intended to, and shall not be construed to, make any person or entity a third party beneficiary. Notwithstanding the preceding, nothing in this section shall affect Plans['] rights under Article XV, or a Member's right to receive Covered Services pursuant to the Terms of this Agreement.

(R. 128; 250). The circuit court found this language to be a clear, explicit, and unambiguous expression of BCBS and Grand Strand's intent to preclude third parties from asserting legal status as third-party beneficiaries and from suing to enforce the Institutional Agreement. (R. 128). Thus, the circuit court found the third-party beneficiary disclaimer to be enforceable as written, and to bar Beverly from suing on the Institutional Agreement. Therefore, the circuit court held that Beverly's breach of contract claim should be dismissed because she does not have standing to sue upon or enforce the Institutional Agreement. (R. 127-130).

Additionally, the circuit court dismissed Beverly's claim for breach of fiduciary duty on the ground that Grand Strand does not, as a matter of law, owe Beverly a fiduciary duty to submit her bills to BCBS. (R. 130-132). Finally, the circuit court also found that Beverly failed to state

a claim for unjust enrichment, because Grand Strand was not unjustly enriched when it billed Beverly the standard rate for the medical services provided to Beverly. (R. 132-134).

On July 19, 2016, Beverly filed a Notice of Appeal of the circuit court's order granting Grand Strand's Motion to Dismiss. Following oral argument, the Court of Appeals issued its opinion, finding (1) the circuit court erred in concluding Beverly is not a third-party beneficiary with the right to sue to enforce the Institutional Agreement; (2) the circuit court properly dismissed Beverly's claims for breach of fiduciary duty because South Carolina does not recognize a fiduciary duty related to a hospital's billing practices; and (3) the circuit court erred in dismissing Beverly's claim for unjust enrichment. (R. 1- 11).

Grand Strand timely filed a Petition for Rehearing, arguing: (1) the Court of Appeals ignored South Carolina authority and improperly interpreted the plain and unambiguous language of the Institutional Agreement in holding that Beverly is an intended and direct third-party beneficiary of that Agreement; (2) the Court of Appeals erred and ignored South Carolina law controlling the interpretation of the Institutional Agreement by concluding that the second sentence of the Institutional Agreement's third-party beneficiary disclaimer creates an exception and overrides the clear and unambiguous contractual disclaimer of third-party beneficiaries; (3) the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that Beverly is a direct and intended third-party beneficiary of the Institutional Agreement; and (4) the Court of Appeals erred in reversing the circuit court's dismissal of Beverly's claim for unjust enrichment/*quantum meruit* after having found that an express contract existed, and was enforceable by Beverly, that governed the very circumstances and claims upon which Beverly's unjust enrichment claim is purportedly based.

The Court of Appeals denied Grand Strand's Petition for Rehearing on March 31, 2020. (R. 12). On April 30, 2020, Grand Strand filed its Petition for a Writ of Certiorari. On

November 25, 2020, the Court issued an order granting Grand Strand's Petition for a Writ of Certiorari.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“On appeal from the dismissal of a case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the [circuit] court.” *Rydde v. Morris*, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009) (citation omitted). “The facts are construed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, and all well-pled allegations are considered true.” *Delaney v. First Fin. of Charleston, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 607, 611, 829 S.E.2d 249, 25051 (2019) (citing *Overcash v. S.C. Elec. & Gas Co.*, 364 S.C. 569, 572, 614 S.E.2d 619, 620 (2005)). “However, questions of law are decided *de novo*.” *Id.* (citing *Town of Summerville v. City of North Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008)).

INTRODUCTION TO ARGUMENTS

Beverly sued Grand Strand to enforce terms of the Institutional Agreement between Grand Strand and BCBS (her health insurer). Beverly did so on the assertion that she is a third-party beneficiary of that Institutional Agreement. However, she admits she is not an actual party to that Institutional Agreement.

In truth, Beverly entered a contract with BCBS for BCBS to provide her health insurance coverage. By that insurance contract between Beverly and BCBS, the insurer (BCBS) agreed to pay for Beverly's medical costs which are subject to coverage under that insurance contract. In turn, BCBS made a separate contract with Grand Strand to obtain for itself the terms and rates it deemed advantageous when BCBS became obligated to pay its members' covered medical costs at Grand Strand. That is the Institutional Agreement and its purpose.

The Institutional Agreement is not a contract between Grand Strand and Beverly regarding the terms or rates the hospital would apply when Beverly received medical care from Grand Strand.

Grand Strand addressed those payment terms in its contract (Institutional Agreement) with BCBS and, in turn, BCBS and Beverly addressed the terms of how BCBS would provide the insurance benefits to Beverly in the separate contract (insurance policy) between them.

To make this distinction of relationships clear, Grand Strand and BCBS included in the Institutional Agreement between them an utterly clear and unambiguous provision and statement of their intent:

No Third-party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is not intended to, and shall not be construed to, make any person or entity a third-party beneficiary. . . .

(R. 250).

Despite this plain language and the Institutional Agreement's structure, Beverly asserts she is a third-party beneficiary of that agreement with the right to interject herself between Grand Strand and BCBS and enforce those provisions in the Institutional Agreement she chooses. Beverly's contention, and the Court of Appeals' decision, opens the path for any and every person having a separate insurance contract with BCBS to sue Grand Strand directly when they believe they did not receive the full benefit of their insurance contract with BCBS, interjecting themselves into the private business contract terms to which only BCBS and Grand Strand agreed.

Beverly now argues that she was supposed to benefit from terms in the Institutional Agreement and thus qualifies as a third-party beneficiary. That argument is specious. Beverly was supposed to benefit from her insurance contract with BCBS. The Institutional Agreement was intended to create the method and structure whereby Grand Strand and BCBS might benefit when Grand Strand provided medical care to BCBS insureds for which BCBS might be obligated to pay under an insurance policy. If Beverly does not believe she is receiving the benefits she expected from her health insurance, her avenue for redress is through BCBS. If, in turn, BCBS believes

Grand Strand is not performing in compliance with the Institutional Agreement, then BCBS, as a party to the Institutional Agreement, may take appropriate action.

When the Court of Appeals decided to allow Beverly to sue Grand Strand as a third-party beneficiary under the Institutional Agreement, it acted in conflict with prior decisions of the Supreme Court and ignored the controlling law of South Carolina.

Compounding its error, after having given Beverly the third-party beneficiary status and the rights to enforce and sue upon the express written contract which is the Institutional Agreement, the Court of Appeals nonetheless granted Beverly the inconsistent and contradictory right to pursue the same claims and alleged damages on the equitable theory of *quantum meruit* / unjust enrichment. Having decided to allow Beverly the status she sought under the express Institutional Agreement, the Court of Appeals' decision to simultaneously allow Beverly to pursue the equitable claim is directly contrary to established South Carolina law. Nor can Beverly's *quantum meruit* / unjust enrichment claim stand on its own, because the benchmark of that claim is the very same contract rates her contract claim seeks to enforce. As a consequence, her unjust enrichment claim is either subsumed by the contract claim, or fails because she cannot enforce contract rates by repackaging her claim in equity.

Grand Strand respectfully requests that the Court overturn the Court of Appeals' reversal and reinstate the circuit court's dismissal of Beverly's claims for breach of contract and unjust enrichment.

ARGUMENTS

- I. **The Court of Appeals ignored the controlling law of South Carolina and erred in reversing the circuit court's dismissal of Beverly's claim for breach of contract.**
 - A. **The Court of Appeals improperly interpreted the plain and unambiguous language of the Institutional Agreement to find that Beverly is an intended and direct third-party beneficiary of the Institutional Agreement.**

The language of the Institutional Agreement is plain and unambiguous. Grand Strand and BCBS do not intend for Beverly, or anyone else, to enjoy legal status as a third-party beneficiary able to enforce the terms of their Institutional Agreement, and do not intend that their Institutional Agreement be construed to make any person a third-party beneficiary. The Court of Appeals erred in ignoring this clear, unambiguous declaration of the parties' intent.

The Court of Appeals' opinion is in conflict with the well-established law of South Carolina regarding the interpretation of contracts and the determination of third-party beneficiary status. Under South Carolina law, it is fundamental that there is a presumption that a contract is not enforceable by a person who is not a party to the contract. *See Windsor Green Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Allied Signal, Inc.*, 362 S.C. 12, 17, 605 S.E.2d 750, 752 (Ct. App. 2004). In this case, since Beverly admits she is not an actual party to the Institutional Agreement, the fundamental presumption under the law means that Beverly has no right to pursue a breach of contract claim. Moreover, under South Carolina law, the expressed intent of the parties to the contract on the issue of third-party beneficiary rights shall govern the interpretation of that contract. *See id.*; *Bob Hammond Const. Co. v. Banks Const. Co.*, 312 S.C. 422, 424, 440 S.E.2d 890, 891 (Ct. App. 1994); *Touchberry v. City of Florence*, 295 S.C. 47, 48-49, 367 S.E.2d 149, 150 (1988). Thus, in this case, since the actual parties to the Institutional Agreement unequivocally expressed their intent that there be no third-party beneficiaries, South Carolina law dictates that their agreement should not be construed to mean the opposite.

"The cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give legal effect to the parties' intentions as determined by the contract language." *Whitlock v. Stewart Title Guar. Co.*, 399 S.C. 610, 614, 732 S.E.2d 626, 628 (2012). Therefore, the necessary first step in determining whether a party is an intended direct third-party beneficiary of a contract is to ascertain and give legal effect to the language of the contract on the issue of intent.

When the parties to a contract include an express third-party beneficiary disclaimer, as Grand Strand and BCBS did in the Institutional Agreement, a court is bound to find the parties did not intend to convey a direct benefit to third parties, or to create a right for such third parties to enforce or sue upon the contract. *See Lightsey v. Toshiba Corp.*, No. 9:18-CV-190, 2019 WL 5872168, at *3 (D.S.C. Mar. 4, 2019) (applying New York law and finding that “[d]ismissal of a third-party-beneficiary claim is appropriate where the contract rules out any intent to benefit the claimant. . . .”); *1500 Range Way Partners, LLC v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, Nat. Ass’n*, 800 F. Supp. 2d 716, 721 n.3 (D.S.C. 2011) (dismissing a plaintiff’s claim for breach of contract because a court may not ignore the plain and unambiguous terms of a contract containing a third-party beneficiary disclaimer and allow a third party to bring an action to enforce a contract to which the plaintiff is not a party); *see also Old Stone Bank v. Fid. Bank*, 749 F. Supp. 147, 152 (N.D. Tex. 1990) (enforcing a contract’s third-party beneficiary disclaimer on the grounds that courts are bound to interpret the intent of the contracting parties based upon the four corners of the instrument).

It is likewise well settled in South Carolina that the law presumes that parties contract exclusively for their own benefit. *See Ancrum v. Camden Water, Light & Ice Co.*, 82 S.C. 284, 295, 64 S.E. 151, 155 (1909). In order to overcome this presumption, a non-signatory third party must show that the parties to a contract intended the third party to be a direct beneficiary of the contract. *Touchberry*, 295 S.C. at 48-49, 367 S.E.2d at 150. In fact, the established law recognizes that “[n]o third-party beneficiary status is created absent an intent by the parties to confer a substantial benefit on [a non-signatory third party].” *Windsor Green Owners Ass’n, Inc.*, 362 S.C. at 19, 605 S.E.2d at 753 (emphasis added); *see also Sec’y of State For Defence v. Trimble Navigation Ltd.*, 484 F.3d 700, 706 (4th Cir. 2007) (“[T]he intent of the parties to the contract is ‘the cornerstone of a claim for third-party beneficiary status.’” (citation omitted)).

The mere conclusion that a third party may derive some benefit from the terms of an agreement made by other parties is not sufficient to allow a finding that such third party is a direct beneficiary of the agreement with rights to enforce or sue upon it. Again, the intent of the actual parties to the contract is what distinguishes an intended beneficiary of the contract with rights to enforce it from a mere incidental or consequential beneficiary. The line between the two is first drawn by examining the clear intent expressed by the actual parties to the contract. *Goode v. St. Stephens United Methodist Church*, 329 S.C. 433, 445, 494 S.E.2d 827, 833 (Ct. App. 1997). Absent an expression that the actual contracting parties clearly intended to directly benefit the third party, that third party is merely an incidental beneficiary with no right to enforce the contract. *See id.*; *Helms Realty, Inc. v. Gibson-Wall Co.*, 363 S.C. 334, 340, 611 S.E.2d 485, 488 (2005) (granting summary judgment in favor of the defendant on the plaintiff's claim to enforce a contract as a third-party beneficiary because the plaintiff's expected benefit was "merely incidental" and a "third-party beneficiary is a party that the contracting parties intend to directly benefit.").

The Court of Appeals ignored the clear and unambiguous language of the Institutional Agreement which plainly and directly expresses Grand Strand and BCBS's intent to bar third parties from enforcing the Institutional Agreement. This intent is unequivocally stated in Section 16.16 of the Institutional Agreement:

This Agreement is not intended to be, and shall not be construed to make any person or entity a third party beneficiary.

(R. 250). Despite observing that the actual parties to the Institutional Agreement plainly stated their intention, the Court of Appeals, contrary to well-established law in South Carolina, impermissibly ignored that direct statement of the parties' intentions and turned the contract's express language on its head. Remarkably, the Court of Appeals found this language did not preclude it from construing the Institutional Agreement to make Beverly a third-party beneficiary.

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