THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the South Carolina Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

**Feb 05 2021**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-000710

---

Jeanne Beverly, Individually ..... Respondent,  
and on behalf of others  
similarly situated

v.

Grand Strand Regional, ..... Petitioner.  
Medical Center, LLC

---

**RESPONDENT'S BRIEF**

---

John G. Felder, Jr. (SC Bar No. 7051)  
McGowan, Hood & Felder  
1517 Hampton Street  
Columbia, SC 29201  
Telephone: (803)779-0100  
Facsimile: (803) 256-0702  
[jfelder@mcgowanhood.com](mailto:jfelder@mcgowanhood.com)

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

### **ARGUMENT**

Ms. Beverly alleges she was denied the most basic benefit of the most basic financial transaction an insured patient faces in the American healthcare system. A hospital cannot bypass an insurer to charge its patient directly or else the patient would have no reason to select an in-network hospital over its competitors or to pay for insurance at all. This principle is not just a matter of logic; it is formalized in a direct promise Grand Strand made to Ms. Beverly and all Blue Cross PPO Members in the Agreement she seeks to enforce. Agreement at 6 § 6.1 (“*Grand*

---

<sup>2</sup> Ms. Beverly did not file a petition for rehearing regarding the Court of Appeals’ ruling on her “bad faith”/breach of fiduciary duty claim.

*Strand] will not solicit any payment from Members . . .”*). (emphasis added). Grand Strand seems unwilling to even acknowledge this promise—it appears nowhere in Grand Strand’s brief. Instead, Grand Strand argues it is “specious” for Ms. Beverly to claim a direct benefit from this contract that made a direct promise to her. (Pet. Br. at 6). Grand Strand cannot credibly criticize the Court of Appeals’ opinion as reductive or dismiss Ms. Beverly as an Agreement interloper without at least attempting to explain away the explicit promise it made to her.

Yet, that is the tack Grand Strand chooses here. Regardless of what the Agreement’s substantive provisions promise, Grand Strand argues, its parties had no intention of conferring direct benefits on Blue Cross Members like Ms. Beverly. The Court of Appeals correctly determined South Carolina contract law does not support this conclusion. Intent is determined by a thorough review of *all* a contract’s terms. While one sentence in the Agreement’s section 16.16 purports to exclude third-party enforcement, the very next one expressly authorizes Members’ pursuit of the benefits the Agreement offers them. Plus, the Agreement references Blue Cross Members more than seventy times in its twenty pages, with Grand Strand agreeing the PPO it joined was “for the benefit of . . . Members” (Agreement at 1 § 1.1) and the Agreement would be interpreted accordingly. By finding the Agreement’s full text demonstrated its parties’ intent to offer Ms. Beverly direct benefits, the Court of Appeals joined state supreme courts in Tennessee, Oklahoma, South Dakota, and Alaska, as well as lower appellate courts in several other jurisdictions—some of which addressed Blue Cross entities and contracts that are nearly identical to the Agreement.

Finally, the Court should consider the real, lasting damage Grand Strand’s success in this appeal would wreak for the PPO on which so many South Carolina Blue Cross Members rely. It is hard to conceive—and Grand Strand offers no explanation—how this intrinsically tripartite

health insurance model remains functional if Members are stripped of any legal or equitable claim against a hospital that illegally charges them. Considering such a broad, systemic, even existential concern does not stray from the Court’s straightforward contract interpretation duty. In fact, the Court would err if it accepted Grand Strand’s invitation to ignore such considerations. No part of the canon of contract interpretation principles recognized by South Carolina law should be deployed in a way that ignores what is “practical” or “reasonable,” and the Agreement must be viewed in light of “the subject matter, the surrounding circumstances, the situation of the parties, and the object in view” when it was formed.<sup>3</sup> In the end, the Court of Appeals’ ruling should be affirmed because it is true to the Agreement’s language, South Carolina contract law, and the bargained-for financial arrangement Grand Strand is accused of violating in Ms. Beverly’s suit.

**1. Taken as a Whole, the Agreement Intended to Confer Direct Benefits on Ms. Beverly Through the Substantive Promises Grand Strand Made to Her.**

Grand Strand’s argument largely begins and ends with one sentence in one of the Agreement’s more than one hundred numbered provisions. As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, that sentence purports to exclude third-party enforcement. Beverly, 429 S.C. at 508, 839 S.E.2d at 471 (quoting Agreement at 20 § 16.16). But, the search for what the Agreement’s parties intended relative to Blue Cross Members like Ms. Beverly simply cannot end with that sentence. Not when another sentence in the same provision expressly protects Ms. Beverly. Not when Grand Strand directly promised Ms. Beverly elsewhere in the Agreement that she would not receive the bill her breach of contract claim challenges. Not when the Agreement’s interpretative provisions—which Grand Strand helped write—state that the PPO Grand Strand

---

<sup>3</sup> Reyhani v. Stone Creek Cove Condominium II Horizontal Prop. Regime, 329 S.C. 206, 212, 494 S.E.2d 465, 468 (Ct. App. 1997) (citing 17A Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 385); Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries v. Outparcel Assocs., LLC, 374 S.C. 483, 498-99, 649 S.E.2d 494, 502 (Ct. App. 2007) (quoting Brady v. Brady, 222 S.C. 242, 246-47, 72 S.E.2d 193, 195 (1952))

joined must be construed “for the benefit of [Blue Cross] Members.” South Carolina contract interpretation rules do not accept Grand Strand’s myopic view of Section 16.16 or any reading of the Agreement that undermines the operation of the PPO at its center.

**a. Grand Strand Fails to Interpret the Agreement as a Whole Including Section 6.1’s Express Promise to Blue Cross Members.**

Ms. Beverly agrees with Grand Strand that the Court’s task is to apply South Carolina contract interpretation principles guided by the intent of the Agreement’s parties as expressed in the language they chose. However, Grand Strand does not consider the full range of pertinent interpretative principles or the full scope of the Agreement’s language. South Carolina law allows a non-party to enforce a contract when it provides her direct benefits, and Grand Strand cites no case to even suggest a non-party is precluded from enforcing a contract that makes a direct promise to her. Beverly, 429 S.C. at 507, 839 S.E.2d at 470-71 (citing Touchberry v. City of Florence, 295 S.C. 47, 49, 367 S.E.2d 149, 150 (1988); Kingman v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 243 S.C. 405, 412, 134 S.E.2d 217, 221 (1964); Jennings v. First of Ga. Underwriters Co., 283 S.C. 455, 457, 322 S.E.2d 694, 695 (Ct. App. 1984)). A court’s search for contract parties’ intent demands a broad examination of all the contract’s pertinent text. Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries, 374 S.C. at 498, 649 S.E.2d at 502 (“The parties’ intention must be gathered from the contents of the entire agreement and not from any particular clause thereof”); Barnacle Broadcasting, Inc. v. Baker Broadcasting, Inc., 343 S.C. 140, 147, 538 S.E.2d 672, 675 (Ct. App. 2000) (contract parties’ intent “to be gathered from the whole scope and effect of the language used”). No one sentence may be elevated over another and no substantive provision may be ignored. Popocar Enters. By and Through Fin. Mgmt. Corp. v. McGowan, 300 S.C. 178, 386 S.E.2d 795 (Ct. App. 1989) (citing Bruce v. Blalock, 241 S.C. 155, 161, 127 S.E.2d 439, 442 (1962) (“The intent and purport of a written contract must be gathered from the contents of the entire agreement and not from any

particular clause or provision thereof”). Grand Strand cites this principle but makes no effort to apply it. Resp. Br. at 14 (citing Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries, 374 S.C. at 498, 756 S.E.2d at 153).

Ms. Beverly’s breach of contract claim alleged three improper actions by Grand Strand: (1) failing to bill Blue Cross for her medical services; (2) charging her directly for those services; (3) seeking payment in the unwarranted bill in excess of the discount reimbursement rate Grand Strand agreed to accept. (R. p. 142 ¶¶ 18, 21, 24; R. p. 144 ¶¶ 34-35). Ms. Beverly alleged these as contract breaches because they violate Grand Strand’s express promises in the Agreement:

- Grand Strand “shall seek payment for Covered Services solely from [Blue Cross].” (Agreement at 6 § 6.1)
- Grand Strand “will not solicit any payment from [Blue Cross] Members” except for deductibles and copays. (Agreement at 6 § 6.1)
- Grand Strand “shall accept the reimbursement terms and rates for Covered Services” that are attached to the Agreement and provide a discount to Blue Cross for services rendered to its Members (Agreement at 6 § 6.4)

See also Beverly, 429 S.C. at 509, 839 S.E.2d at 472 (finding Ms. Beverly’s contract claim viable because “pursuant to the terms of the agreement, Grand Strand agreed to bill Blue Cross and to accept a discounted reimbursement for Member Beverly’s benefit”).

Section 6.1 is key because its second sentence can only be read as an exclusive promise from Grand Strand to Blue Cross Members like Ms. Beverly using the most basic contractual promise sentence structure: promisor-promise-promisee. Agreement at 6 § 6.1 (“Institution [promisor] will not solicit any payment [promise] from Members [promisee] . . .”). This sentence is not, as Grand Strand has suggested (R. p. 59), a private agreement between Grand Strand and Blue Cross since Blue Cross is not referenced. Plus, Grand Strand’s obligation to bill Blue Cross is covered elsewhere in the Agreement (section 6.1’s first sentence, section 6.2). Section 6.1’s second sentence was written for the distinct purpose of Grand Strand promising Ms. Beverly (and

all Blue Cross Members) that they would not be billed as Ms. Beverly alleges in this case. Section 16.16's purported third-party beneficiary exclusion must be read in light of this direct promise Grand Strand chose to make.

Even if section 6.1's explicit promise to Blue Cross Members was not enough to show the parties intended to directly benefit Ms. Beverly, the Agreement goes further. The Agreement's foundation is a PPO expressly created "for the benefit of [Blue Cross] Members." Agreement at 1, § 1.1. By entering the Agreement, Grand Strand became a participant in the PPO and was required to comply with the PPO's rules. Agreement at 1 § 1.2 (noting Grand Strand's desire to join PPO "to provide Covered Services under the terms of this Agreement"). Grand Strand also cannot deny the PPO was intended to provide financial benefits to Ms. Beverly and all other Blue Cross members. Agreement at 3, § 2.16. Those financial benefits included the discounted rate Grand Strand was required to accept for the services it provided Blue Cross Members. Beverly, 429 S.C. at 512, 839 S.E.2d at 473 (referencing Agreement at 6 § 6.4).

Since Grand Strand does not even acknowledge these terms, its argument seems to be that one sentence in Section 16.16 renders inoperable direct promises to non-parties elsewhere in the Agreement or, more generally, that a third-party beneficiary exclusion makes it unnecessary for the Court to consider any other portion of a contract. Yet, like any other contract term, an exclusion may not be read in isolation or enforced when fundamentally at odds with the remainder of the contract. MGC Mgmt. of Charleston, Inc. v. Kinghorn Ins. Agency, 336 S.C. 542, 548, 520 S.E.2d 820, 823 (Ct. App. 1999) (rejecting argument that insurance contract exclusion should be read in isolation and noting party's admission that "one could not simply skip straight to [the] exclusion" since "the contract must be viewed in its entirety"); Id. (citing Yarborough v. Phoenix Mut. Life Ins. Co., 266 S.C. 584, 225 S.E.2d 344 (1976) ("the contract must be read as a whole, giving the

appropriate weight to all of its provisions”)). Courts in other jurisdictions applying the same interpretive principle have refused to enforce a third-party beneficiary exclusion to bar a claim by a non-party to whom direct promises were made elsewhere in the same contract.<sup>4</sup>

Grand Strand’s final plea comes in the form of a question through which Grand Strand suggests the Court of Appeals must have erred because the exclusion was stated in plain terms. Pet. Br. at 11 (asking, “What could be more clear?”). Though the question may have been rhetorical, it has many answers. Assuming without conceding that a hospital-insurer contract could ever immunize Grand Strand’s conduct by barring patients’ claims, the Agreement would have to have been drafted much differently. If that was truly Grand Strand’s intent when the Agreement was drafted, Grand Strand should not have chosen to include in section 6.1 a sentence that can only be fairly interpreted as a direct promise from Grand Strand to Blue Cross Members. Likewise, it should have insisted on removing language in provisions in sections 6.2-6.4 and other sections that provide Members direct benefits. Grand Strand should have also negotiated the removal of

---

<sup>4</sup> See e.g., Osprey-Troy Officentre L.L.C. w. World Alliance Fin. Corp., 822 F. Supp. 2d 700, 707 (E.D. Mich. 2011) (finding that purported disclaimer provision “cannot be viewed in isolation from the foregoing provisions, which paints a compelling picture of [the plaintiff] as an intended third-party beneficiary”); Versico, Inc. v. Engineered Fabrics Corp., 520 S.E.2d 505, 508-09 (Ga. App. 1999) (finding trial court’s decision to allow third-party contract enforcement despite third-party beneficiary disclaimer was proper application of contract interpretation rule requiring application of specific over general provisions). A third-party beneficiary disclaimer may be some evidence on the parties’ intent but it cannot override contrary indications of intention elsewhere in the same contract. Walsh Chiropractic, Ltd. v. StrataCare, Inc., 752 F. Supp. 896, 907 (S.D. Ill. 2010) (quoting Roche v. Zenith Ins. Co., Civ. No. 07-875-MJR, 2009 WL 635503, at \*4 (S.D. Ill. March 12, 2009) (finding that “the presence of [a disclaimer provision] in a contract is not dispositive of whether a third party is entitled to enforce an agreement”); Twin City Constr. Co. of Fargo, N.D. v. ITT Indus. Credit Co., 358 N.W.2d 716, 719 (Minn. App. 1984) (finding contract intended to benefit third-party “regardless of the disclaimer”). When a contract contains a general third-party beneficiary disclaimer and separate provisions conferring benefits on a third-party, the proper interpretation of the disclaimer may be to apply it only to those portions of the contract not conferring benefits on third parties. Prouty v. Gores Tech. Group, 121 Cal. App. 4th 1225, 1234-35 (Cal. App. 2004) (finding provision granting third person a direct benefit was an “exception” to the contract’s third-party beneficiary disclaimer).

recitals, definitions, and other sections that reiterate the Agreement's underlying purpose is to support a PPO for the Members' benefit. Finally, as discussed below, Grand Strand should not have limited the third-party beneficiary exclusion's reach with an express exception that covers Ms. Beverly's claims.

In sum, Grand Strand is bound by the full scope of the language it chose for the Agreement. None of the Agreement's language was forced on Grand Strand. Agreement at 20 § 16.17 (stating that the Agreement's terms were part of an arms-length negotiation with each side given adequate time for input and review). If Grand Strand wanted to make a sincere argument the Agreement was not intended to benefit Ms. Beverly and other Blue Cross Members, then Grand Strand should have drafted, negotiated, or insisted on language *throughout the Agreement as a whole* that at least nominally supported that conclusion.

**b. Ms. Beverly's Benefits from the Agreement are Direct and Intended.**

The Court of Appeals correctly determined Ms. Beverly has standing to enforce the Agreement as a third-party beneficiary because the benefits it offers her are direct and intended. Grand Strand's argument that Ms. Beverly's benefits are merely incidental (Pet. Br. at 14-17) fails to acknowledge section 6.1's direct promise to Blue Cross Members. Grand Strand cannot credibly claim its promise to "not solicit any payment from Members" was not intended to directly benefit those Members. Similarly, Grand Strand's duty to submit bills to Blue Cross (Agreement at 6 §§ 6.1-6.2) and its duty to accept a negotiated reimbursement rate from Blue Cross for Members' covered services (Agreement at 6 § 6.4) provide direct benefits to Members like Ms. Beverly in addition to their benefits to the Agreement's parties. See e.g. Jennings v. Rapid City Reg'l Hosp. Inc., 802 N.W.2d 918, 923 (S.D. 2011) (finding members of self-insured health plan were "directly and primarily benefited" by plan's contract with hospital); Nahom v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of

Ariz., Inc., 885 P.2d 1113, 1117 (Ariz. App. 1994) (finding discount reimbursement rate in Blue Cross entity's contract with a hospital contract was "clearly a benefit to" Blue Cross insureds and "that benefit is both intentional and direct").

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